
 

 
 

  

 

General Purposes Committee 
 

Wednesday 15 January 2025 at 9.30 am 
Conference Hall - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley, HA9 0FJ 
 

Please note this will be held as a physical meeting which all Committee 
members will be required to attend in person. 
 

The meeting will be open for the press and public to attend or 
alternatively can be followed via the live webcast. The link to follow 
proceedings via the live webcast is available HERE 

 

Membership: 
 
Members Substitute Members 
Councillors: Councillors: 
  

M Butt (Chair) 
M Patel (Vice-Chair) 
Donnelly-Jackson 
Nerva 
Rubin 
Krupa Sheth 
Tatler 
Vacancy 

Afzal, Akram, Crabb, Farah, Grahl and 2 vacancies. 
 
Councillors: 
Lorber and Matin 
 

 

For further information contact: Rebecca Reid, Governance Officer 
Tel: 0208 9372 469, Email: rebecca.reid@brent.gov.uk 

 

For electronic copies of minutes and agendas please visit: 
Council meetings and decision making | Brent Council 

 
 

Public Document Pack

https://brent.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://www.brent.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/council-meetings-and-decision-making


 

2 
 

Notes for Members - Declarations of Interest: 
 

If a Member is aware they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business, 
they must declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent and must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item.  
 

If a Member is aware they have a Personal Interest** in an item of business, they must 
declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent. 
 

If the Personal Interest is also significant enough to affect your judgement of a public 
interest and either it affects a financial position or relates to a regulatory matter then after 
disclosing the interest to the meeting the Member must leave the room without participating 
in discussion of the item, except that they may first make representations, answer questions 
or give evidence relating to the matter, provided that the public are allowed to attend the 
meeting for those purposes. 
 
*Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
(a)  Employment, etc. - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 

for profit gain. 
(b)  Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of expenses in 

carrying out duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union.  
(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the 

Councillors or their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the 
council. 

(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer. 
(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the 

Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest. 
(g)  Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of 

business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of 
any one class of its issued share capital. 

 

**Personal Interests: 
The business relates to or affects: 
(a) Anybody of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management, 
and: 

 To which you are appointed by the council; 

 which exercises functions of a public nature; 

 which is directed is to charitable purposes; 

 whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy (including a 
political party of trade union). 

(b) The interests a of a person from whom you have received gifts or hospitality of at least 
£50 as a member in the municipal year;  

or 
A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-
being or financial position of: 

 You yourself; 

 a member of your family or your friend or any person with whom you have a close 
association or any person or body who is the subject of a registrable personal 
interest.  
 



 

3 
 

Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members   
 

2 Declarations of interests  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, the nature 
and existence of any relevant disclosable pecuniary or personal interests 
in the items on this agenda and to specify the item(s) to which they 
relate. 
 

 

 

3 Deputations (if any)  
 

 

 To hear any deputations for which requests have been submitted by 
members of the public in accordance with Standing Order 67. 
 

 

 

4 Minutes of the previous meeting  
 

1 - 2 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on Monday 15 July 
2024 as a correct record. 
 

 

 

5 Matters arising (if any)  
 

 

 To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the previous 
meeting.  
 

 

 

6 Presentation of a petition - Invest not Divest  
 

 

 To receive the following petition for which notice has been received in 
accordance with Standing Order 66: 
 
Call on Brent Council’s Pension Fund to Invest not Divest 
 

 

 

7 Council Tax Base 2025  
 

3 - 18 

 This report is presented to enable the Council to fulfil its statutory role to 
set a council tax base for 2025-26. The Local Government Finance Act 

 



 

4 
 

(LGFA) 1992, as amended by the LGFA 2003 & LGFA 2012, requires the 
Authority to formally calculate the Council Tax Base for 2025-26 and 
pass this information to precepting authorities by 31 January 2025. The 
tax base must be set between 1 December 2024 and 31 January 2025. 
 

 

8 Employer Pension Discretions Policy  
 

19 - 40 

 The purpose of this report is to present an updated Employer Pension 
Discretions Policy for approval and adoption. 
 

 

 

9 Appointments to Sub-Committees  
 

 

 No membership changes have been identified in advance of the agenda 
publication for consideration by the Committee.  
 

 

 

10 Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

 

 No items have been identified in advance of the meeting that will require 
the exclusion of the press or public. 
 

 

 

11 Any other urgent business  
 

 

 Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Deputy Director Democratic Services or their representative before 
the meeting in accordance with Standing Order 60. 
 

 

 
Date of next meeting: Monday 10 March 2025 
 

 Please remember to set your mobile phone to silent during the meeting. 

 The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 
members of the public.  Alternatively, it will be possible to follow 
proceedings via the live webcast HERE 
 

https://brent.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF BRENT 
 

MINUTES OF THE GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 
Held in the Conference Hall, Brent Civic Centre on Monday 15 July 2024 at 

9.30 am 
 

PRESENT: Councillor M Butt (Chair), Councillor M Patel (Vice-Chair) and Councillors 
Donn Donnelly-Jackson, Grahl, Nerva, Rubin and Tatler. 

 
1. Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members  

 
Apologies of absence were received from Councillor Georgiou and Councillor Krupa 
Sheth (with Councillor Grahl attending as a substitute for Councillor Krupa Sheth). 
 

2. Declarations of interests  
 
There were no declarations of interest made during the meeting. 
 

3. Deputations (if any)  
 
No deputations were received. 
 

4. Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the previous meeting held on Tuesday 28 May 
2024 be approved as a correct record. 
 

5. Matters arising (if any)  
 
There were no matters arising. 
 

6. Approval to make severance payments 
 
Councillor Mili Patel introduce a report from the Head of Paid Service seeking 
approval to make up to four severance payments consisting predominantly of 
actuarial strain costs that related to the release of pensions on the basis that the 
employee’s posts were redundant. 
 
In noting the background to the proposal, the Committee were advised that the 
redundancies related to a restructure within the Housing Management Service with 
two of the positions having been approved for redundancy and two of the 
postholders at risk of redundancy if unable to secure toles once their current 
positions are deleted. 
 
Having considered the report, including the details contained within the exempt 
appendix, and accepted the item as urgent it was RESOLVED to: 
 
(1) Approve the severance payment as set out in the report. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 

General Purposes Committee - 15 July 2024 

 
(2) Note that the payments do not include any element additional to sums 

calculated in accordance with the Council’s Managing Change Policy and the 
requirements of the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

 
7. Appointment to Sub Committees  

 
No membership changes were identified for consideration at the meeting. 
 

8. Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 
There were no items that required the exclusion of the press or public from the 
meeting. 
 

9. Any other urgent business  
 
No items of urgent business were raised at the meeting. 
 

 
The meeting closed at 9.35 am 
 
COUNCILLOR MUHAMMED BUTT 
Chair 
 

Page 2



 

 
General Purposes Committee 

15 January 2025 
 

Report from the Corporate Director, 
Finance and Resources 

Lead Member -  
Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member 

for Finance and Resources 
(Councillor Mili Patel) 

Calculation of Council Tax Base 2025/26 

 

Wards Affected:  All 

Key or Non-Key Decision:  Not Applicable  

Open or Part/Fully Exempt: 
(If exempt, please highlight 
relevant paragraph of Part 1, 
Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act) 

Open 

No. of Appendices: None 

Background Papers:  None 

Contact Officer(s): 
(Name, Title, Contact Details) 

Minesh Patel 
Corporate Director, Finance and Resources 
Tel: 020 8937 4043 
Email: minesh.patel@brent.gov.uk 
 
Rav Jassar 
Deputy Director, Corporate & Financial Planning 
Tel: 020 8937 1487 
Email: ravinder.jassar@brent.gov.uk 
 
Amanda Healy 
Deputy Director, Investment and Infrastructure 
Tel: 020 8937 5912 
Email: amanda.healy@brent.gov.uk 
 

 
1.0 Executive Summary 
 
1.1  This report is presented to enable the Council to fulfil its statutory role to set a 

council tax base for 2025/26.  The Local Government Finance Act (LGFA) 1992, 
as amended by the LGFA 2003 & LGFA 2012 requires the Authority to formally 
calculate the council tax base for 2025/26 and pass this information to 

Page 3

Agenda Item 7



precepting authorities by 31 January 2025.  The tax base must be set between 
1 December 2024 and 31 January 2025. 

 
2.0 Recommendation(s)  
 
2.1 Agree that the Band D equivalent number of properties is calculated, as shown, 

in accordance with the Government regulations; 
 
2.2 Agree that the collection rate for council tax for 2025/26 is set at 97.0%; and 
 
2.3 Subject to (2.1) and (2.2) above, a council tax Base for 2025/26 of 108,617 

Band D equivalent properties (after collection rate allowance deduction) be 
approved, as per (7.1). 

 
2.4 Agree to delegate authority to the Corporate Director, Finance and Resources 

to approve the revised tax base per (7.3), in the circumstances specified in 
(7.2). 

 
3.0 Contribution to Borough Plan Priorities & Strategic Context 
 
3.1 Council tax is one of the main sources of funding for the Council’s revenue 

budget, representing 42% of the Council’s core funding in 2024/25, up from 
31% in 2014/15. The increase in relative importance of Council Tax in the past 
decade has been the result of income from grants provided by central 
government not increasing in line with increases in costs and demand for 
services.  

 
3.2 In 2024/25, the actual Council Tax yield for Brent was £162.1m. This means 

that increases to the tax base since 2015/16 have contributed £32.5m to the 
revenue budget. This is income that has been generated locally and has 
contributed to keeping the savings to a minimum and enabling continued 
investment in the services that Brent’s residents rely on. Table 1 shows how the 
tax base has grown since 2015/16, Table 2 shows how the tax base increase 
has contributed additional Council Tax income to the revenue budget and Table 
3 shows the total increase in Council Tax yield split between the increase to the 
precept and the increase in the tax base. 

 
 Table 1: Growth in Council tax base since 2015/16 
  

Year Tax base 
preceding 
financial 
year 

Tax base 
current 
financial 
year 

Increase in 
tax base 

% increase 
in tax base 

2016/17 82,799 89,254 6,455 7.8% 

2017/18 89,254 93,319 4,065 4.6% 

2018/19 93,319 95,677 2,358 2.5% 

2019/20 95,677 96,639 962 1.0% 

2020/21 96,639 97,605 966 1.0% 

2021/22 97,605 98,450 845 0.9% 

2022/23 98,450 98,730 280 0.3% 

Page 4



2023/24 98,730 101,187 2,457 2.5% 

2024/25 101,187 103,577 2,390 2.4% 

 
 Table 2: Contribution of increase in Council tax base to additional income in 

revenue budget 
 

Year Increase 
in tax 
base 

Cumulative 
increase in 
tax base 

Band D 
Council 
Tax 
(Brent 
Share)  
Current 
Year (£) 

Cumulative 
additional 
Council 
Tax 
income 
due to 
increase in 
tax base 
(£m) 

Additional 
Council 
Tax 
income in 
year due to 
increase in 
tax base 
(£m) 

2016/17 6,455 6,455 1,101.24 7.1 7.1 

2017/18 4,065 10,520 1,145.16 12.0 4.9 

2018/19 2,358 12,878 1,202.30 15.5 3.5 

2019/20 962 13,840 1,262.30 17.5 2.0 

2020/21 966 14,806 1,312.70 19.4 1.9 

2021/22 845 15,651 1,378.30 21.6 2.2 

2022/23 280 15,931 1,419.50 22.6 1.0 

2023/24 2,457 18,388 1,490.30 27.4 4.8 

2024/25 2,390 20,778 1,564.70 32.5 5.1 

 
 Table 3: Total increase in Council Tax yield split between precept increase and 

increase to tax base 
 

Year Actual 
Council 
Tax Yield 
Preceding 
Year (£m) 

Increase in 
Council 
Tax due to 
increase in 
Brent 
precept 
(£m) 

Increase 
in 
Council 
Tax due 
to 
increase 
in tax 
base 

Actual 
Council 
Tax Yield 
Current 
Year (£m) 

2016/17 87.7 3.5 7.1 98.3 

2017/18 98.3 3.6 4.9 106.9 

2018/19 106.9 4.7 3.5 115.0 

2019/20 115.0 5.0 2.0 122.0 

2020/21 122.0 4.2 1.9 128.1 

2021/22 128.1 5.4 2.2 135.7 

2022/23 135.7 3.4 1.0 140.1 

2023/24 140.1 5.9 4.8 150.8 

2024/25 150.8 6.2 5.1 162.1 

Total  41.9 32.5  

 
3.3 Cumulatively, the Council Tax yield for Brent Council has increased by £74.4m 

between 2015/16 and 2024/25, which is 19% of Brent’s net revenue budget for 
2024/25 (£386.7m). The increase in the tax base alone since 2015/16 is 

Page 5



contributing 8% to the net revenue budget in 2024/25. Therefore, it is possible 
to draw the following conclusions: 

  
i) It is of strategic importance to the Council to set an appropriate level of 

Council Tax which enables the delivery of the priorities and objectives 
within the Borough Plan, while protecting the services that the residents 
rely on. 

ii) The effect of changes to the tax base is material to the ability of the 
Council to set a level of Council Tax which complies with i). 

iii) If the actual tax base is lower than the tax base calculated by the Council 
for budget setting purposes, this would result in a deficit on the Collection 
Fund, which would be material to the revenue budget in future years. It 
is therefore also of strategic importance to the Council to set an 
appropriate tax base as part of the budget setting process, taking 
account of all known risks. 

 
3.4 The following sections set out the Council’s statutory calculation of the 

proposed tax base for budget setting purposes for 2025/26 and the 
considerations made in making the recommendation. 

 
4.0 Calculating the Tax Base 
 
4.1 The calculation of the tax base is one of the technical stages in the process of 

setting the council tax, which is scheduled for the Full Council Meeting on 27 
February 2025. 

 
4.2 The Local Government Finance Act (LGFA) 1992, as amended by the LGFA 

2003 & LGFA 2012, requires the Authority formally to calculate the council tax 
base for 2025/26 and pass this information to precepting authorities by 31 
January 2025. The tax base must be set between 1 December 2024 and 31 
January 2025. 

 
4.3 Brent, like all Local Authorities, has to work out how much next year’s Band D 

council tax should be so that the total tax that will be collected equals the budget 
required to pay for its services.  To work out the Band D tax, the budget 
requirement is divided by a figure called the council tax base, which is 
calculated in this report. In effect, the tax base represents the aggregate taxable 
value of all residential property in Brent.  As well as Brent, the Greater London 
Authority also needs the tax base figure to work out how much they need to 
add on to Brent’s council tax to pay for their services.  This is formally known 
as their ‘precept’. 

 
4.4 The Council’s ‘number of taxable properties’ has been calculated in accordance 

with relevant procedures and guidance for 2025/26.  The calculation of the Tax 
Base has two parts:  

 
(a) The number of taxable properties shown as ‘Band D equivalents’; and  

 
(b) The expected collection rate for the year. 
 

 

Page 6



4.5 The calculation method is set out in the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council 
Tax Base) Regulations 1992, as amended.  For calculating the Tax Base, (and 
setting the Council Tax) properties in each of the eight valuation bands are 
given different weightings. These weightings are shown as a proportion of the 
Band D value. These are shown in Table 4. 

 
 Table 4: Council Tax band weightings  
 

Band  A B C D E F G H 

Weighting  6/9 7/9 8/9 1 11/9 13/9 15/9 2 

 
4.6 The calculation is primarily based on the Council Tax Base return (CTB1) 

submitted to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government in 
October 2024, which is used in Government grant calculations. This sets out 
the factual number of Band D properties, after taking account of the existing 
level of council tax support and exemptions.  An estimate is also made for the 
change in the tax base expected in 2025/26, consisting of the following: 

 

 An estimate of the impact of the proposed amendments to the Council Tax 
Support Scheme from 1 April 2025 on the tax base 

 An estimate of new housing developments in the borough and 
demolitions, adjusted for expected discounts, exemptions and Council 
Tax Support 

 
4.7 The council tax base for 2025/26 could be expressed as: 
 

 The Band D equivalent properties as at 7 October 2024 after adjustments 
for discounts, premiums, exemptions and council tax support (before the 
proposed changes to take effect on 1 April 2025); 

 The estimated net growth in Band D properties between 7 October 2024 
and 31 March 2025 (as all of these properties will be liable for council tax 
in 2024/25); 

 An estimated increase in Band D properties on 1 April 2025 as a result of 
the proposed changes to the Council Tax Support scheme 

 Half of the estimated net growth in Band D properties during 2025/26 (all 
of these properties will be liable for council tax in 2025/26 but as they will 
complete, on average, half-way through the year, only half of their tax 
raising potential should be taken into account). 

 
5.0 Band D Equivalent Properties 
 
5.1 In October of each financial year, the Council completes a return, called CTB1, 

to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, which reports 
the tax base after adjustments for discounts, premiums, exemptions and council 
tax support at that time. From the 2024 return, the Band D Council Tax base at 
7 October 2024 is 106,709. This is 1.7% higher than the equivalent figure as at 
2 October 2023. This growth rate is similar to the growth rate in the previous 
year. 

 

Page 7



5.2 The assumption in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2024/25 
was that there would be 106,233 Band D equivalent properties. Given that 
growth has been consistent in recent years, excluding the effects of the COVID-
19 pandemic, the 7 October 2024 figure can be considered to be the average 
tax base for 2024/25. This means that the actual tax base for 2024/25 is 476 
properties higher than was forecast in December 2023 and the assumptions 
used for the 2024/25 tax base were robust and prudent. This surplus tax base 
is marginally lower than in 2023/24, but is worth an additional £0.7m to the 
revenue budget. This indicates that the current growth in the taxbase is 
consistent with the targets for housebuilding set out in the Brent Local Plan 
2019-2041 (adopted February 2022), on which the current MTFS assumptions 
are based. 

 
5.3 Chart 1 shows the comparison between the tax base (before adjustment for the 

collection rate) used for budget setting purposes since 2022/23 with the tax 
base per the CTB1 form in October of each financial year.  

 
5.4 Following the adoption of the Brent Local Plan in 2022, which set out a clear 

target for housebuilding in the borough (23,250 new homes by 2028/29), the 
actual growth in the tax base has increased at a faster rate than the 
assumptions in the budget. However, this gap has been narrowing slowly since 
2022/23. 

 

  
 
5.5 The assumption in the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2025/26 is for 1.8% 

growth in the tax base based on this long term trend and the Local Plan targets. 
The two year moving average has fallen to 1.7% in 2024/25, having previously 
reached 2.5% in 2022/23. The average since 2017/18 is for 1.9% growth per 
annum in the tax base.  

 
5.6 Chart 2 provides a comparison of Brent’s tax base since 2020/21 with the 

average tax base for a group of 15 other London authorities, determined by 
CIPFA to be statistically comparable to Brent. This chart shows that Brent’s tax 
base is consistently several thousand Band D households higher than the 
average for comparable authorities and the gap is currently increasing. This 
provides Brent with additional revenue to support services, with the gap alone 

Page 8



being worth £6.5m in 2024/25 (up from £2.9m in 2020/21). Taken together with 
the trend data for Brent’s tax base, this provides strong evidence that Brent has 
committed to ambitious targets for growing the tax base, but is also delivering 
on those commitments and the benefits of continuing to do so for local services 
at a time of constrained finances is clear. 

 

  
 
5.7 Furthermore, as reported to the Resources & Public Realm Scrutiny Committee 

by the Corporate Director, Neighbourhoods & Regeneration on 5 November 
2024, the targets for growing the tax base are required in order to meet 
identified housing need as a result of expected population growth and that 
updated government calculations for housing (currently subject to consultation) 
have identified an increase in the requirement for new homes to approximately 
2,900 homes per year, a significant increase on the current assumption in the 
MTFS. 

 
5.8 At the present time, these targets are not certain and are based on recent 

national policy announcements made by a new government, with local factors 
not considered in detail. It is possible that external factors present in the 
economy, e.g.  high interest rates, will weigh down on housebuilding in Brent in 
2025/26 and prevent delivery of these targets in the short term. 

 
5.9 On this basis, it is considered prudent to assume that, before the proposed 

changes to the Council Tax Support Scheme from 1 April 2025, the council tax 
base will increase in line with the current Medium Term Financial Strategy 
assumptions by 1.8% from 106,233 to 108,148 for 2025/26. 

 
5.10 The proposed revision to the Council Tax Support Scheme from 1 April 2025, 

which is subject to a separate consultation and report to Cabinet alongside the 
Budget and Council Tax report in February 2025, is expected to reduce the cost 
to the Collection Fund of providing support to residents through the Council Tax 
Support Scheme by £8m in 2025/26. 

 
5.11 As part of the modelling, it was assumed that some residents would continue 

to require support and that a Hardship Fund of £1.5m should be set up to 

Page 9



provide that support. The remaining £6.5m is additional income to Brent and 
the GLA from 2025/26. Table 5 shows how this is split between Brent and the 
GLA. At the time of dispatch of this report, a decision is pending from the GLA 
on whether to make the £0.4m contribution to the Hardship Fund. 

 
 Table 5: Proposed changes to Council Tax Support Scheme 
 

 Precept % Additional 
income (£m) 

Hardship 
Fund (£m) 

Total (£m) 

Brent 77% 5.0 1.1 6.1 

GLA 23% 1.5 0.4 1.9 

Total 100% 6.5 1.5 8.0 

 
5.12 The proposed changes to the Council Tax Support Scheme were initially 

presented to Cabinet in October 2024 and the £5m reduction in cost of the 
Council Tax Support Scheme was included in the 2025/26 Draft Budget report 
to Cabinet in November 2024 as part of the £16m savings target, with the 
expected Council Tax income being based on the tax base increase before the 
changes as per Section 5.9.  

 
5.13 For the statutory calculation of the Council Tax base and the setting of the 

Budget and Council Tax for 2025/26, it is necessary to include the changes as 
an estimated increase in the tax base, with a corresponding £6.1m increase to 
be shown in the Council Tax income in the Budget and Council Tax report to 
be approved by Full Council on 27 February 2025. 

 
5.14 In 2025/26, the proposed Band D Council Tax is £1,642.77 (4.99% increase 

from 2024/25), the maximum allowed without requiring a referendum. A £6.1m 
increase in the Council Tax income for 2025/26 would therefore require a 
reduction in the Council Tax Support Scheme resulting in an addition of the 
following Band D properties to the tax base: 

 
 Increase to tax base = £6.1m / £1,642.77 / 97.0% = 3,828 
 
 where 97.0% is the long-term collection rate expectation (see section 6) 
 
5.15 Therefore, the number of taxable properties shown as ‘Band D equivalents’, to 

calculate the figure for Section 4.4 (a) is calculated as follows: 
 
 number of Band D equivalent taxable properties = 108,148 + 3,828 = 111,976 
 
5.16 At the time of dispatch of this report, this represents Brent’s expectation of what 

the Council tax base will be in 2025/26 before the collection rate and is 
calculated based on the assumption that the proposed amendments to the 
Council Tax Support Scheme will be approved by Full Council alongside the 
Council’s 2025/26 budget in February 2025.  

 
5.17 The consultation on the proposed changes to the Council Tax Reduction 

Scheme closed on 15 December 2024.  Feedback from that consultation and 
an assessment of the equality impacts of the proposed changes are being 

Page 10



considered by the Corporate Director, Partnerships, Housing and Resident 
Services.    In the event that, following consideration of the feedback and of the 
equality impact assessment, the Corporate Director, Partnerships, Housing and 
Resident Services proposes to recommend to Cabinet changes to the scheme 
that differ from those currently proposed, the Corporate Director, Finance and 
Resources will exercise the authority delegated to him in this report to adjust 
and finalise the calculations described in this report prior to their submission on 
31 January 2025.   

 
5.18 If the amendments as recommended by the Corporate Director, Partnerships, 

Housing and Resident Services are subsequently not approved by Cabinet and 
then Full Council, then the tax base for budget setting purposes will be higher 
than the actual tax base in 2025/26. 

 
5.19 In this scenario, at the Full Council meeting, two alternate recommendations 

will be made for the Budget and Council Tax report, dependent on the outcome 
of the Council Tax Support Scheme report. 

 

 If the Council Tax Support Scheme amendments are approved, the report 
will recommend the budget including the increased Council Tax income, 
with no further amendments to the budget required. 

 If the Council Tax Support Scheme amendments are not approved, the 
report will recommend the budget including the increased Council Tax 
income, but with Brent’s share of the Hardship Fund (£1.1m) removed and 
an additional transfer from earmarked reserves to the Collection Fund 
reserve (£5m) to cover the uncollectable £6.1m of Council Tax income. 
The Collection Fund deficit arising from this overstatement of the tax base 
in 2025/26 would then be repaid from the Collection Fund reserve in 
2026/27 without affecting the budget setting for 2026/27. The tax base for 
the 2026/27 budget presented to General Purposes Committee in 
December 2025/January 2026 would revert to the lower tax base 
excluding the proposed amendments. 

 
5.20 In the event that the Council Tax Support Scheme proposals are different to 

what has been proposed between the 31 January and the date of dispatch of 
the papers to Full Council, only the second of these recommendations will be 
presented in the Budget and Council Tax report. 

 
6.0 Council Tax Collection Rate 
 
6.1 The figure for Band D equivalent taxable properties then needs to be adjusted 

to reflect the fact that 100% collection of council tax is unlikely to be achieved. 
The council tax base set by the Council takes account of what is eventually 
expected to be collected, not just by the end of the financial year in question.  
This is referred to as the lifetime collection rate. 

 
6.2 Over the years the collection rate has been adjusted to take into account 

economic factors that have affected actual collection in-year and the longer 
term effect on collection for the remaining debt outstanding. For 2021/22 the 
rate was lowered from 97.63% to 97.5% to account for the impact of COVID-19 
on the ability of households to pay Council Tax and the postponement of normal 

Page 11



debt recovery actions. As a result of the ongoing impacts of COVID-19 and the 
cost-of-living crisis, it was deemed prudent to further reduce the long term 
collection rate in 2022/23 to 97.0% and hold it at that level in 2023/24. 

 
6.3 In 2024/25, the collection rate assumption was increased again to 97.5%. On 

the basis that the recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and the return to 
normal debt recovery action will enable long term collection to increase back to 
pre-pandemic levels. It was acknowledged that with the cost-of-living crisis 
ongoing, this represented a risk, but it was considered reasonable to make this 
assumption. 

 
6.4 Table 6 shows collection at 31 March 2024 for each of the last ten financial 

years. This shows that the higher long term target collection of 97.5/97.6% is 
not being met until after 8 years have passed, 2 years longer than assumed at 
the time of setting the tax base. The data on collection for debts of that age may 
be misleading as a result of write-offs and adjustments to liabilities being 
included in these statistics, with more detailed analysis difficult due to the 
limitations of the system used to administer Council Tax. 

 
6.5 The lower 97.0% target has been met for the financial years prior to 2019, but 

collection is still significantly below the target set for those financial years. This 
will result in more debt being written off from these financial years than was 
provided for in the setting of the tax base. The resulting deficit on the Collection 
Fund will have a negative impact on the revenue budget in future years. 
Although there is currently a Collection Fund reserve held for the purpose of 
smoothing out deficits on the Collection Fund, this is limited to the amount of 
surpluses built up as a result of growth in the tax base and this cannot be relied 
on indefinitely. 

 
 Table 6: Prior-year collection rates 
  

Year Collection Rate Target 
Collection Rate 

Difference 

2014/15 98.7% 97.6% 1.1% 

2015/16 98.2% 97.6% 0.6% 

2016/17 97.2% 97.6% -0.4% 

2017/18 97.0% 97.6% -0.6% 

2018/19 97.0% 97.6% -0.6% 

2019/20 96.3% 97.6% -1.3% 

2020/21 95.9% 97.5% -1.6% 

2021/22 94.9% 97.5% -2.6% 

2022/23 94.5% 97.0% -2.5% 

2023/24 92.2% 97.0% -4.8% 

 
6.6 Table 7 shows the movement in the collection rates for prior years during 

2023/24, restricted only to the years for which the collection target had not been 
met and excluding 2023/24 for which the comparison is not available. This 
shows that collection for the years from 2016-19 has slowed down and does 
not appear likely to reach the 97.6% target for those years.  

 

Page 12



 Table 7: Movement on collection rates for prior-years during 2023/24 
 

Year Collection Rate 
31 March 2024 

Collection Rate 
31 March 2023 

Difference 

2016/17 97.2% 97.2% 0.0% 

2017/18 97.0% 96.9% 0.1% 

2018/19 97.0% 96.9% 0.1% 

2019/20 96.3% 96.6% -0.3% 

2020/21 95.9% 95.6% 0.3% 

2021/22 94.9% 94.2% 0.7% 

2022/23 94.5% 93.4% 1.1% 

 
6.7 Table 7 also shows that collection of debt from the preceding financial year has 

improved marginally (94.2% for 2021/22 debt by 31 March 2023, 94.5% for 
2022/23 debt by 31 March 2024), but collection of debt which is 2-5 years old 
is 0.6-0.7% below the equivalent collection rate the year before. This suggests 
that long term collection of debt that has not been collected in the first two 
financial years is becoming harder, rather than easier. 

 
6.8 The current collection rate for 2024/25 Council Tax at 30 November 2024 is 

67.2%, which is 1.2% lower than the equivalent rate in 2023/24. If this variance 
is to carry through to the end of the year, this will mean that an extra 1.7% of 
the 2024/25 council tax liability will have to be collected in future financial years 
in order to meet the 97.6% long-term collection target (1.2% in-year collection 
variance + 0.5% increase to target). As per the above, this puts considerable 
pressure on the Revenue and Debt service to collect this debt in 2025/26, as 
evidence suggests that this debt will become much harder to collect thereafter.  

 
6.9 The Medium Term Financial Strategy assumption for 2025/26 is for the long 

term collection target to remain at 97.5%. However, the evidence presented by 
Tables 6-7 suggest that long-term collection of more than 97% is currently 
unachievable and that on current trends achieving 97% collection in the long-
term for current Council Tax debt will be difficult. There are a number of factors 
that have contributed to this current position, including but not limited to: 

 

 Cost-of-living crisis 

 Reductions in debt collection during the COVID-19 pandemic 
 
6.10 However, due to the strategic importance of the tax base to the Council’s 

revenue budget, particularly in light of the current difficult financial environment 
in local government, a greater focus has been applied to this area during 
2024/25, which are aimed at improving the situation in the long term. These 
actions include improvements to debt reporting, utilising external resources to 
segment debt, allowing for more targeted debt collection activities to be 
undertaken in line with the Council’s debt policy. Furthermore, a business case 
has been agreed to pilot an increase in resources in the debt recovery team to 
better manage overall arrears and further develop recovery procedures. This 
will allow the Council to take positive action to identify and support vulnerable 
customers and recover debt from those customers who are not engaging in the 

Page 13



process and who have already been informed of the action the Council may 
take. 

 
6.11 In order to set a balanced budget, it is essential that the Council determines a 

tax base based on a realistic set of assumptions, whilst also setting a target for 
debt collection that is both challenging and fair to all residents of Brent, working 
on the principle that every household that is able to pay council tax must do so. 
Therefore, it is recommended that the long-term collection rate target be 
reduced to 97.0%, as it was previously from 2022-24. This decision will result 
in a reduction in available resources for the 2025/26 budget of approximately 
£0.9m since the Draft Budget was presented to Cabinet in November 2024. 
This change will be reflected in the Budget & Council Tax report to be presented 
to Full Council in February 2024. This assumption will be kept under review and 
a further update will be provided to Cabinet in the July 2025 update of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 
6.12 If at that stage it is determined that the collection rate of 97.0% is not achievable 

for 2025/26, or any subsequent year, a recommendation will be made to amend 
the collection rate assumptions in the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 
2026/27 and future financial years to reflect the lower collection expectations. 
If it is also necessary to assume lower collection for 2025/26, then the budget 
gap arising from this will need to be addressed. The actions required to address 
this gap may include identifying in-year savings in addition to the £16m already 
agreed for the 2025/26 budget, inclusive of the Council Tax Support scheme 
amendments. Each reduction of 0.1% in the target collection rate will result in 
a further budget gap of approximately £0.2m. 

 
6.13 On the other hand, if budgeted collection levels have been reached, this does 

not mean that collection efforts will stop or that eventual losses will necessarily 
be 3%. It is, however, essential that an adequate allowance for non-collection 
be made each year. The Government recognises that no billing authority can 
collect every pound of Council Tax and that an element of collection will 
continue after the relevant year. The legislation provides for an allowance for 
non-collection to be incorporated into the calculation of the tax base. 

 
6.14 Table 8 shows how the long-term collection target applied to the tax base after 

the amendments to the Council Tax Support scheme results in £178.4m of 
Council Tax income in the Budget & Council Tax report to be presented to Full 
Council in February 2025. Table 9 shows how this reconciles to the Council Tax 
income included in the Draft Budget presented to Cabinet in November 2024. 

 
 Table 8: Calculation of revised Council Tax Income for 2025/26 Budget 
  

 Tax base 
Excluding 
changes 
to CTS 

Tax base 
due to 
changes 
to CTS 

Adjusted 
Tax Base 
(A) 

Council Tax Income 
(£m) 
(A*£1,642.77/1,000,000) 

Before 
Collection 
Rate 
adjustment 

108,148 3,828 111,976 183.9 

Page 14



Collection 
rate 
adjustment 

(3,244) (115) (3,359) (5.5) 

After 
collection 
rate 
adjustment 

104,904 3,713 108,617 178.4 

 
 Table 9: Reconciliation of revised Council Tax income for 2025/26 Budget to 

Council Tax income in Draft 2025/26 Budget 
  

 £m 

Council Tax income in Draft 
2025/26 Budget 

173.2 

Add: ‘Saving’ included in Draft Budget 
for amendment to Council Tax 
Support scheme 

5.0 

Add: Allocation to Hardship fund 1.1 

Less: Council Tax income lost due to 
reduction in collection rate on tax 
base before amendment to Council 
Tax Support scheme from 97.5% to 
97.0% 

(0.9) 

Council Tax income in Final 
2025/26 Budget 

178.4 

 
7.0 Setting the Council Tax Base 
 
7.1 Taking into account all of the considerations above, the calculation of the tax 

base for 2025/26, after allowing for an estimated reduced collection rate, is 
proposed as follows: 
 
Estimated Tax Base (Band D equivalent)  (A) =  111,976  
 
Multiplied by:  
 
The estimated lifetime rate of collection   (B) =  97.0%  
 
 Band D Tax Base after collection allowance (A x B) =  108,617 

 
7.2 Brent Council has a legal obligation to agree the Council tax base by 31 January 

2025 and the calculation above is based on the expectations based on 
information available at the time of dispatch of this report. As explained above, 
review of the consultation responses and Equality Impact Assessment and 
scrutiny of the Council Tax Support Scheme proposals by officers is ongoing 
and no decision will have been made by members by the 31 January 2025. 

 
7.3 However, in the event that new information becomes available before the 

deadline that indicates the proposals will not be approved in the manner 
proposed it will be necessary to amend the tax base used for budget setting 

Page 15



purposes. It is therefore recommended to the committee that authority be 
delegated to the Corporate Director, Finance and Resources to change the tax 
base if such circumstances arise. 

 
8.0 Financial Considerations 
 
8.1 The proposed council tax base for 2025/26 is 108,617 and will form part of the 

overall calculation of the Council’s budget that will be presented to Full Council 
on 27 February 2025.  

 
8.2 The proposed council tax base for 2025/26 includes the proposed amendments 

to the Council Tax Support Scheme to be presented to Full Council alongside 
the budget on 27 February 2025. This results in an additional £6.1m of Council 
Tax income, which has been fully allocated in the proposed 2025/26 budget. 

 
8.3 If the Council Tax Support Scheme amendments are rejected by Full Council 

or differ from those taken into account in the determination of the tax base, a 
transfer will be required between earmarked reserves and the Collection Fund 
reserve to account for the deficit arising on the Collection Fund in 2025/26. This 
transfer from earmarked reserves ensures that the 2025/26 budget can proceed 
without requiring additional savings. However, this reduces the amount of 
reserves available to fund unexpected costs during the financial year. 

 
8.4 The proposed reduction in the collection rate for the tax base excluding the 

effects of the changes to the Council Tax support scheme from 97.5% to 97.0% 
results in a budget gap for 2025/26 of £0.9m. The impact of this adjustment to 
the budget since the Draft Budget was presented to Cabinet in November 2024 
will be addressed in the Budget & Council Tax report, due to be presented to 
Full Council on 27 February 2025. 

 
8.5 The assumptions made in the calculation of the council tax base are estimates. 

Whilst every care is taken to set an appropriate council tax base, there is 
uncertainty contained within these estimates. Where a deficit arises on the 
Collection Fund, this will have a negative impact on the revenue budget in future 
years. Although there is currently a Collection Fund reserve held for the 
purpose of smoothing out deficits, this is limited to the amount of surpluses built 
up as a result of growth in the tax base and this cannot be relied on indefinitely. 

 
9.0 Legal Considerations 
  
9.1 The Council is required by section 33 of the Local Government Finance Act 

1992 (“the Act”) to calculate for each financial year the basic amount of its 
council tax. The basic amount of council tax must be calculated from the 
Council Tax base. The council tax base is the equivalent number of Band D 
dwellings (after taking account of discounts and exemptions) which would raise 
the same amount of tax as the actual number of liable dwellings in the borough, 
with their actual spread of bands. The Band D equivalent total is then multiplied 
by the estimated collection rate for the year, to give the council tax base figure. 
In the council tax calculation process to be undertaken at Full Council on 27 
February 2025 this figure will be used to calculate the amount of tax to be levied 

Page 16



for a Band D dwelling. The council tax level for each valuation band is then 
calculated by a fixed ratio which each band bears to the Band D figure.  

 
9.2 The Council is required to submit its council tax base to the GLA between 1 

December and 31 January in the financial year preceding the financial year for 
which the calculation of council tax base is made. If the Council does not submit 
its council tax base to the GLA, then the GLA is required to determine the 
calculation for itself, in the manner prescribed in the above Regulations. 

 
9.3 There is a requirement to publish notice of the amount set for Council Tax in at 

least one local paper within 21 days of the Council’s decision under section 
38(2) of the Local Government and Finance Act 1992.  

 
9.4 Pursuant to The Local Government Finance Act 2012 (as amended by 

subsequent regulations) a billing authority has power to set discounts on 
dwellings of a kind set out in regulations. Billing authorities are also able to 
charge an ‘empty homes premium’ in respect of dwellings which have been 
empty or on second homes for various periods of time.  

 
9.5 The Council has recently concluded a consultation on proposed changes to the 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme. The report sets out how this is to be taken into 
account in determining the council tax base and at the council’ budget and 
council tax setting meeting in on 27 February 2025. 

 
10.0 Equity, Diversity & Inclusion (EDI) Considerations 
 
10.1 There are no EDI considerations in agreeing the tax base, however EDI 

considerations are particularly relevant for the proposed changes to the Council 
Tax Support Scheme.  These will be presented to Cabinet in February 2025 as 
part of their decision making.  

 

11.0 Stakeholder and ward member consultation and engagement 
 
11.1 N/A 
 
12.0 Climate Change and Environmental Considerations 
 
12.1 N/A 
 
13.0 Human Resources/Property Considerations  
 
13.1 N/A 
 
14.0 Communication Considerations  
 
14.1 N/A 
 

Page 17



 
 
 
 
 

Report sign off:   
 
Minesh Patel 
Corporate Director, Finance and 
Resources 

Page 18



 

 
General Purposes Committee 

15 January 2025  

Report from the Corporate Director 
of Law and Governance 

Lead Member – Deputy Leader & 
Cabinet Member for Finance & 

Resources 
(Councillor Mili Patel) 

Employer Pension Discretions Policy 
 

Wards Affected:  None 

Key or Non-Key Decision:  Not applicable 

Open or Part/Fully Exempt: 
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act) 

Open 

List of Appendices: One 

Background Papers:  None 

Contact Officer(s): 
(Name, Title, Contact Details) 

Musrat Zaman, Director of HR & OD  
020 8937 4081 
Musrat.zaman@brent.gov.uk 
 

 

1.0 Executive Summary 

 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to present an updated Employer Pension 

Discretions Policy. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s)  
 
2.1 To note the pension discretions contained within the policy and, subject to 

approval, adopt them in line with Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
regulations. 

 
3.0 Detail 
 
3.1 Contribution to Borough Plan Priorities & Strategic Context 
 
3.1.1 An up-to-date Employer Discretions Policy ensures that the Council fulfils its 

statutory obligations under the Local Government Pension Scheme and the 
Employment Rights Act 1996. It creates a framework that helps the Council to 
manage its relationship with its employees and to control its budget. These aims 
are integral to the borough’s plans and priorities. 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Musrat.zaman@brent.gov.uk


3.2 Background 
 
3.2.1 The regulations governing the pension arrangements allow greater Scheme 

flexibility for both employers and members, and in particular give employers 
greater scope for local decision making. 

 
3.2.2 Each Scheme employer must formulate and keep under review their policy 

concerning the exercise of their functions in awarding additional pension to 
members and in operating early retirement and flexible retirement provisions 
including those related to redundancy and compensatory payments.  

3.2.3 In addition to these mandatory policy decisions there are many other areas 
where discretionary policy decisions can be made by employers. 

3.2.4 The Scheme rules allow for a revised statement to be issued as necessary and 
the revised policy can be found in Appendix 1. The refreshed policy provides 
far greater detail on the discretions we propose to exercise. 

3.2.5 Although there are many employer discretions, employers are only required to 
publish a policy on how they will exercise four discretions under regulation 60. 
This is the bare minimum, and it is advisable to publish a policy that illustrates 
the Council’s approach to a range of key topics without being exhaustive. 
Brent’s policy tries to strike a balance by choosing 20 select discretions that 
illustrate the Council’s philosophy on key areas, without creating an 
interminable list of overlapping discretions.  

3.2.6 A good discretions policy helps employers to manage their employees’ 
expectations and facilitate better employee relations. Many discretions carry a 
capital cost to the employer and a carefully considered discretions policy will 
help it to manage those costs.  

3.2.7 No alternatives were considered as it is a requirement of the Pension 
Regulations to keep this policy under review. 

4.0 Stakeholder and ward member consultation and engagement  
 
4.1 Not applicable 
 
5.0 Financial Considerations  
 
5.1 In general it is proposed that application of discretions including where 

discretions are applied to individual cases will be considered in exceptional 
circumstances. Where a discretion is applied there may be a financial cost 
attached however given the nature of discretions it is not possible to estimate 
the cost as it will vary on a case by case basis. The Council should be aware 
that use of employer discretions can attract a financial cost and advice can be 
sought from Pension Fund officers if necessary. 

 
6.0 Legal Considerations  
 

Page 20



6.1 There are no specific legal implications in this report. Regulation 60 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013  (the Regulations) require the 
Council to prepare and publish a written statement of its policy in relation to 
various discretions available to it under the pension scheme and to publish that 
statement. The statement must thereafter be kept under review. 

 
6.2  The Regulations require that in preparing or making revisions to its pension 

policy statements, the scheme employer must have regard to the extent to 
which the exercise of any of its policies could lead to a serious loss of 
confidence in the public service (Regulation 60(5)). 

 
7.0 Equity, Diversity & Inclusion (EDI) Considerations 
 
7.1 The public sector equality duty set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 

requires the Council, when exercising its functions, to have due regard to the 
need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited under the Act, and to advance equality of opportunity and 
foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not share that protected characteristic. The protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. 

 
7.2 The EDI impact would be minimal as discretionary decisions will be made on 

a case-by-case basis. Decisions will take into consideration any protected 
characteristics of the individual. 

 
8.0 Climate Change and Environmental Considerations 
 
8.1 There are no climate change and environmental considerations. 
 
9.0 Human Resources/Property Considerations  
 
9.1 These are contained within the body of the report and appendix. 
 
9.2  There are no property considerations. 
 
10.0 Communication Considerations 
 
10.1 There are no communication considerations save for those contained in the 

regulations for communicating a change in this policy 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Report sign off:   
 
Debra Norman 
Corporate Director of Law and Governance 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

  

 
   

    

  

Local Government Pension Scheme  

Employer Pension Discretions Policy  

December 2024  

 

   
  

  

  
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Human Resources  

 

 

Governance 

Approved by Approved date Date of next review  

Human Resources  December 2024 December 2026 

Page 23



  2  

PROTECT: DEPARTMENTAL  
  

Contents  
  

1.  INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................ 3 

2.  LEGAL AND BUSINESS CONTEXT ................................................................................... 3 

3.  POLICY REMIT AND DEFINITIONS ................................................................................... 3 

4.   DETAIL .............................................................................................................................. 3 

5.   ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES ..................................................................................... 8 

6.   APPLICATIONS ON COMPASSIONATE GROUNDS ......................................................... 8 

7.    MONITORING ................................................................................................................... 8 

8.  FURTHER INFORMATION ................................................................................................. 8 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 24



  3  

1. INTRODUCTION  
  

1.1  This policy outlines Brent Council’s position in relation to the exercise of its discretionary 

powers under the regulations of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 2014.  It 

explains whether and in what circumstances the Council will exercise any of its discretions 

under the Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 and to set out the approval process for 

decision making. All local government employers are required to review and update their 

policy to take account of the changes introduced as part of the LGPS 2014.  

  
1.2   This policy covers all council employees who are members of the Local Government 

Pensions Scheme. However, in the case of school based employees the relevant governing 

body is responsible for authorising any discretions and meeting any costs in accordance with 

this policy.  

  
  

2. LEGAL AND BUSINESS CONTEXT  
  

2.1  There are a number of other discretions which Scheme employers may exercise under the 

LGPS Regulations 2013 (see: http://www.lgpsregs.org/index.php/guides/pdfarchive).  

  

  

3. POLICY REMIT AND DEFINITIONS   
  

3.1  The specific areas where employers will be required to formulate, publish and keep under 

review, statements of Policy are as follows:  

1. Augmentation of membership  

2. Awarding additional pension  

3. Flexible retirement  

4. Allowing early payment of benefits  

5. Waiving actuarial reduction for early retirement  

6. Transfer of previous service  

3.2  The specific LGPS Regulations and the proposed regulations and policy statements are 

detailed below section 4 and in Appendix 1 in a table format.  

4. DETAIL  

 
4.1 Regulations 9 and 10 Pensions Regulations - Whether to vary an employee’s 

contribution bands 

 
Members must pay pension contributions at the appropriate rate set on 1st April or the first 
day of active membership, if later. The employer may vary the contribution rate if there is a 
change in employment or a material change that affects the member’s pensionable pay.  
 
The council will only vary the employee’s contribution rate in exceptional circumstances. 

 

4.1 Regulation 21(5), 21(5A) and 21(5B) Pension Regulations - Whether to increase 
assumed pensionable pay in certain specific circumstances 
 
If a member is absent because of illness, child related leave or reserve forces leave their 
pension benefits may be based on assumed pensionable pay (APP). If, in the employer’s 
opinion, the member’s APP is materially lower than their pay in the twelve months preceding 

Page 25

http://www.lgpsregs.org/index.php/guides/pdfarchive
http://www.lgpsregs.org/index.php/guides/pdfarchive


  4  

the absence they can either include (1) a “regular” lump sum received during that period or 
(2) substitute a higher pensionable pay having regard for their earnings in that period. 
 
The council may increase assumed pensionable pay and each case will be considered on its 

merits. 

 

4.2 Regulations 16(2)(e) and 16(4)(d) Pensions Regulations - Funding of Additional 

Pension Contributions 

Whether to fund, in whole or in part, a shared cost additional pension contributions (SCAPC) 

on behalf of an active member by regular contributions (Regulation 16(2)(e)) or by lump sum 

(Regulation 16(4)(d)).  

 

Note: The amount of additional pension that may be credited to an active member’s pension 

accounts may not exceed the overall additional pension limit of £8,344 (1st April 2024 and 

uplifted annually). 

 

The council will only contribute towards APCs in exceptional circumstances. 

 

4.3 Regulation 17(1) and Schedule 1 (definition of SCAVC) Pension Regulations - Shared 

Cost Additional Voluntary Contributions (SCAVCs) 

 
Whether to contribute towards a Shared Cost Additional Contribution arrangement. Pre-2014 
SCAVCs also fall under Regulation 17 by virtue of Regulation 15(2A) Transitional 
Regulations. 
 
The council will only contribute to SCAVCs in exceptional circumstances. 

 

4.4 Regulation D11(2)(c) of 1995 Regulations - Whether to grant early payment of pension 

on compassionate grounds (pre-1st April 1998 leavers) 

 
Whether to agree to early payment of pension benefits on or after age 50 on compassionate 
grounds. The employer should note that pension benefits paid before age 55 may attract an 
unauthorised payments surcharge and they may have to pay a strain cost because the 
pension benefits cannot be reduced.   
 
The council will only agree to early payment of pension in exceptional circumstances. 

 

4.5 Regulation 31(1)/(2) of 1997 Regulations - Whether to grant early payment of pension 

(leavers from 1st April 1998 to 31st March 2008) 

 
Whether to agree to early payment of pension benefits on or after age 50 and before age 55 
on compassionate grounds. The employer should note that pension benefits paid before age 
55 may attract an unauthorised payments surcharge.  
 
The council will only agree to early payment of pension in exceptional circumstances. 

 
4.6 Regulation 30(6), Pensions Regulations and Regulations 11(2) and (3) of Transitional 

Regulations – Flexible Retirement  

 

Whether to agree to an employee aged 55 or over reducing their hours of work or 
their grade so that they may receive all or some of their retirement pension while still 
employed.  
 
Whether, in addition to any pre-1st April 2008 pension benefits which the member must 
draw, to permit the member to draw; (a) all, part or none of benefits accrued between 1st 

Page 26



  5  

April 2008 and 31st March 2014 and (b) all, part or none of the pension benefits built up after 
31st March 2014. 
 
The council will consider applications for flexible retirement in accordance with its published 
policy and each case will be assessed on its merits. 

 
4.7 Schedule 2 of Transitional Regulations - Switching-on the 85-year rule 

 
Whether to switch on the 85-year rule under Regulation 1(2) and 1(3) of Schedule 2 of the 
Transitional Regulations. 
 
The council will only switch-on the 85-year rule in exceptional circumstances. 

 
4.8 Regulation 30(8), Pensions Regulations and Schedule 2 of Transitional Regulations 

(Post 2014) Whether to agree to waive, in whole or in part, any actuarial reduction that would 

otherwise apply to the pension paid to a former employee aged 55 or over under 30(5) or 30(6) 

[flexible retirement] using regulation 30(8) of the Pension Regulations. 

 
(Pre-2014) Whether to waive actuarial reductions entirely under 30(5) or 30A(5) [deferred 
pensioner members] of the Benefits Regulations and   Regulation 2(1),  of Schedule 2 of the 
Transitional Regulations. 
 
The council will only waive actuarial reductions in exceptional circumstances. 

 

4.9 Regulation 31, Pensions Regulations - Award of Additional Pension 
 

To award additional pension at full cost to the employer: 

 
(1) an active member; or 

 
(2) a former active member who was dismissed by reason of redundancy, business 

efficiency or mutual consent on grounds of business efficiency. 

 
Note: Any additional pension awarded (including any additional pension purchased by 
the employer or the member under Regulation 16 of the Pensions Regulations) may not 
exceed the overall additional pension limit of £8,344 (1st April 2024 and uplifted 
annually). 
 
Additionally, in the case of a member falling within (2) above, the resolution to award 

additional pension must be made within 6 months from the date on which the employment 

ended. 

 

The council will only award additional pension in exceptional circumstances. 

 

4.11 Regulation 22 (7)(b), Pensions Regulations - Aggregation of Benefits: 

Concurrent Employments 

 
Whether to allow an active member with concurrent employments, who ceases an 
employment with an entitlement to a deferred pension, more than 12 months to elect not 
to have their deferred pension aggregated with their active member’s pension account.   
 
The council will only extend the deadline in exceptional circumstances. 
 

4.12 Regulation 22 (8)(b), Pensions Regulations - Aggregation of Benefits: Deferred 

Member becoming Active Member 

 

Page 27



  6  

Whether to allow a deferred member who becomes an active member longer than 12 

months in which to elect not to have their deferred benefits aggregated with the benefits in 

their active member’s pension account.   

 

The council will only extend the deadline in exceptional circumstances. 

 

4.13 Regulation 10(6)(b) Transitional Regulations - Aggregation of Benefits: Deferred 

Member becoming Active Member (pre-2014 membership) 

 
Whether to allow a deferred member who becomes an active member longer than 12 
months in which to elect for their pre-2014 deferred benefits to be aggregated with their 
active member’s pension account (but, technically, they would lose the final salary link if 
they have not made an election under 5(5) Transitional Regulations within twelve months 
of becoming an active member of 2013 scheme). 
 
The council will only extend the deadline in exceptional circumstances. 

 

4.14  A 74(2) - Whether to recover any monetary obligation 

 

Whether to recover from the Fund any monetary obligation or, if less, the value of the 

member’s benefits (other than transferred in pension rights or AVCs/SCAVCs) where the 

obligation was incurred because of a criminal, negligent or fraudulent act or omission in 

connection with the employment and as a result of which the person has left employment. 

 

The council may recover any monetary obligation and each case will be assessed on its 

merits. 

 

4.15  Regulation 100, Pensions Regulations - Inward Transfer of Pension Rights 

 

Whether to allow an employee who has been an active member in their current 

employment for more than 12 months to ask for the transfer of certain accrued pension 

rights to be considered. 

 

Note: Regulation 100(6) of the Pensions Regulations requires that a request must be made 

within 12 months beginning with the date on which the member first became an active 

member in an employment or such longer period as the employer and the Administering 

Authority may allow. The discretion is, therefore, only exercisable if both the Employing 

Authority and the Administering Authority agree. 

 

The council will only extend the deadline in exceptional circumstances. 

 

4.16  21(7) The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 

Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2000 (as amended) - Spouse’s 

CAY pensions 

 

Whether to cancel the suspension rule where the spouse of a person who ceased 

employment before 1 April 1998 remarries, enters a new civil partnership or cohabits after 

1 April 1998. 

 

The council will not suspend a spouse’s CAY pension during remarriage or periods of 

cohabitation. 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



  7  

4.17 Regulation 19 The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 

(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2000 (as amended) 

- Compensatory added years (CAY) 

 

 The process to reduce a pensioner’s annual compensatory added years’ pension and lump 

sum if, following the cessation of a period of re-employment in local government, they can 

count more membership than they could have accrued had they worked to 65. 

 

The council may reduce CAY pensions proportionately if a re-employed pensioner can 

count more membership than they could have accrued had they worked to 65. Any 

reduction would be based on the excess membership multiplied by the lesser of pay in the 

original job and pay in the latest job wound back using PI tables. The reduced CAY pension 

would be suspended until the overpaid CAY lump sum had been recovered. 

 

4.18  Regulation 5, Compensation Regulations 2006 - Redundancy Payments 

 

Whether to base redundancy pay on actual pay if it exceeds the statutory maximum under 

the Employment Rights Act 1996 (£700 per week from 6th April 2024). 

 

The council’s Managing Change policy is to exercise its discretion to use actual average 

weekly pay.   

 

The council may pay statutory improved redundancy payments and each case will be 

considered on its merits. 

 

4.19  Regulation 6, Compensation Regulations 2006 - Compensation for loss of 

Employment 

 

  Whether to pay compensation to a person whose employment ceases: 

 

 by reason of redundancy; 

 in the interests of the efficient exercise of the employing authority’s functions; or in 
the case of a joint appointment, because the other holder of the appointment leaves 

 
Note: Compensation may not be paid under this Regulation if: 

 

 a person has been awarded additional pension by the employer under Regulation 

31 of the Pension Regulations (by virtue of the Interpretation Act 1978) 

 a person’s period of membership of the Pension Scheme has been increased 

under Regulation 12 of the Benefits Regulations 2007; or 

 a person has been awarded an additional pension under Regulation 13 of the 

Benefits Regulations 2007. 

 The amount of compensation paid under this Regulation may not exceed 104 
weeks’ pay less any redundancy payment payable. 

 In all cases the decision to pay compensation under this Regulation must be 
made no later than 6 months after the date the person’s employment terminates. 
 

The council may pay statutory improved redundancy payments and each case will be 

considered on its merits. 

 

4.20 14(1) of the Compensation Regulations 2011 - Injury Allowances 

 

Scheme employers (LGPS employers), apart from admission bodies, must formulate, 
publish and keep under review a policy on:  
 

Page 29



  8  

whether to make an injury award to those who sustain an injury or contract a disease 
because of anything they were required to do in performing the duties of their job and in 
consequence of which they: 
 

 suffer a reduction in remuneration, or  

 cease to be employed because of an incapacity which is likely to be 
permanent and which was caused by the injury or disease, or 

 die leaving a surviving spouse, civil partner or dependant, and                   
 
if the Scheme employer has a policy to make such payments, how it will determine the 
amount of injury allowance to be paid and whether and when to terminate it. 
The council will only award injury allowances in exceptional circumstances. 

 

5. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES  
  

Employees / Deferred Scheme Members  
  

5.1  Employees must make requests under this policy in writing to their Corporate Director who 

will liaise with HR over the approval process.   

  

Human Resources / Finance  
  

5.2  The Director of HR and Organisational Development and Corporate Director, Finance and 

Resources will consider each request on an individual basis. There will be no automatic 

consent. Where a request is not approved, reasons for the rejection will be issued to the 

applicant in writing. If additional pension is awarded under any circumstance, HR and 

Finance will inform General Purposes Committee and provide justification.   

  

Trade unions  
  

5.3  The role of the trades unions is to represent the views and interests of their members on this 

policy and associated procedures, as a need arises, and to advise and represent individual 

members as appropriate.    

  

6. APPLICATIONS ON COMPASSIONATE GROUNDS  
  

6.1  Compassionate grounds can cover a variety of situations and a written application outlining 

the case should be submitted to the Director of HR and Organisational Development and 

Director of Finance. All applications on compassionate ground must include supporting 

documentation as evidence of the circumstance. Brent reserves the right to seek additional 

information or evidence should it feel necessary. Any application for actuarial reductions in 

benefits could be waived based on the individual’s circumstances.  

  

7. MONITORING   

    

7.1  The applications of the ‘discretions’ contained in this policy will be reported to CMT and 

General Purpose Committee annually.  

  

8. FURTHER INFORMATION   
  

8.1  Any clarification in respect of the application of this policy should be sought from Human 

Resources.

Page 30



  9  

Appendix 1 

P
age 31



  10  

No. Area Regulation Discretion Policy Summary 

 

1 

 

Whether to vary an 

employee’s 

contribution band 

 

Regulations 9 and 10 

Pensions Regulations 

 

Members must pay pension contributions at the 

appropriate rate set on 1st April or the first day of active 

membership, if later. The employer may vary the 

contribution rate if there is a change in employment or a 

material change that affects the member’s pensionable 

pay.  

 

 

The council will only vary the 

employee’s contribution rate in 

exceptional circumstances. 

 

 

2 

 

Whether to 

increase assumed 

pensionable pay 

in certain specific 

circumstances  

 

Regulation 21(5), 21(5A) 

and 21(5B) Pension 

Regulations 

 

If a member is absent because of illness, child related 

leave or reserve forces leave their pension benefits may 

be based on assumed pensionable pay (APP). If, in the 

employer’s opinion, the member’s APP is materially 

lower than their pay in the twelve months preceding the 

absence they can either include (1) a “regular” lump sum 

received during that period or (2) substitute a higher 

pensionable pay having regard for their earnings in that 

period. 

 

 

The council may increase assumed 

pensionable pay and each case will 

be considered on its merits. 

 

 

3 

 

Funding of 

Additional 

Pension 

Contributions 

 

Regulations 16(2)(e) and 

16(4)(d) Pensions  

Regulations,  

 

 

 

 

Whether to fund, in whole or in part, a shared cost 

additional pension contributions (SCAPC) on behalf of 

an active member by regular contributions (Regulation 

16(2)(e)) or by lump sum (Regulation 16(4)(d)).  

 

Note: 

The amount of additional pension that may be credited 

to an active member’s pension accounts may not 

exceed the overall additional pension limit of £8,344 (1st 

April   2024 and uplifted annually). 

 

 

 

 

The council will only contribute 

towards APCs in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

 

P
age 32



  11  

 

4 

 

Shared Cost 

Additional 

Voluntary 

Contributions 

(SCAVCs) 

 

Regulation 17(1) and 

Schedule 1 (definition of 

SCAVC) Pension 

Regulations. 

 

 

 

Whether to contribute towards a Shared Cost Additional 

Contribution arrangement. Pre-2014 SCAVCs also fall 

under Regulation 17 by virtue of Regulation 15(2A) 

Transitional Regulations. 

 

The council will only contribute to 

SCAVCs in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

 

5 

 

Whether to grant 

early payment of 

pension on 

compassionate 

grounds (pre-1st 

April 1998 leavers)  

 

Regulation D11(2)(c) of 

1995 Regulations  

 

Whether to agree to early payment of pension benefits 

on or after age 50 on compassionate grounds. The 

employer should note that pension benefits paid before 

age 55 may attract an unauthorised payments surcharge 

and they may have to pay a strain cost because the 

pension benefits cannot be reduced.   

 

 

The council will only agree to early 

payment of pension in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

 

6 

 

Whether to grant 

early payment of 

pension (leavers 

from 1st April 1998 

to 31st March 2008) 

 

Regulation 31(1)/(2) of 

1997 Regulations 

 

Whether to agree to early payment of pension benefits 

on or after age 50 and before age 55 on compassionate 

grounds. The employer should note that pension 

benefits paid before age 55 may attract an unauthorised 

payments surcharge.  

 

 

The council will only agree to early 

payment of pension in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

 

7 

 

Flexible 

Retirement  

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation 30(6), 

Pensions Regulations 

 

Regulations 11(2) and 

(3) of  Transitional 

Regulations 

 

Whether to agree to an employee aged 55 or over 

reducing their hours of work or their grade so that they 

may receive all or some of their retirement pension while 

still employed.  

 

Whether, in addition to any pre-1st April 2008 pension 

benefits which the member must draw, to permit the 

member to draw; (a) all, part or none of benefits accrued 

between 1st April 2008 and 31st March 2014 and (b) all, 

part or none of the pension benefits built up after 31st 

March 2014 

 

 

The council will consider applications 

for flexible retirement in accordance 

with its published policy and each 

case will be assessed on its merits. 

 

P
age 33



  12  

 

 

8 

 

 

 

Switching-on the 

85-year rule  

 

 

Schedule 2 of 

Transitional Regulations 

 

Whether to switch on the 85-year rule under Regulation 

1(2) and 1(3) of Schedule 2 of the Transitional 

Regulations.  

 

The council will only switch-on the 

85-year rule in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

 

9 

 

 

Waiving of 

Actuarial 

Reduction to 

Pensions 

 

 

Regulation 30(8), 

Pensions Regulations 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 2 of 

Transitional Regulations 

 

(Post 2014) Whether to agree to waive, in whole or in 

part, any actuarial reduction that would otherwise apply 

to the pension paid to a former employee aged 55 or 

over under 30(5) or 30(6) [flexible retirement] using 

regulation 30(8) of the Pension Regulations. 

 

(Pre-2014) Whether to waive actuarial reductions 

entirely under 30(5) or 30A(5) [deferred pensioner 

members] of the Benefits Regulations and   Regulation 

2(1),  of Schedule 2 of the Transitional Regulations. 

 

The council will only waive actuarial 

reductions in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

 

10 

 

Award of 

Additional 

Pension 

 

Regulation 31, Pensions 

Regulations 

 

To award additional pension at full cost to the employer: 

 

(1) an active member; or 
 

(2) a former active member who was dismissed 
by reason of redundancy, business 
efficiency or mutual consent on grounds of 
business efficiency. 

 

Note: 

Any additional pension awarded (including any 

additional pension purchased by the employer or the 

member under Regulation 16 of the Pensions 

Regulations) may not exceed the overall additional 

pension limit of £8,344 (1st April 2024 and uplifted 

annually). 

 

 

The council will only award 

additional pension in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

P
age 34



  13  

Additionally, in the case of a member falling within (2) 

above, the resolution to award additional pension must 

be made within 6 months from the date on which the 

employment ended. 

 

 

11 

 

 

Aggregation of 

Benefits: 

Concurrent 

Employments 

 

Regulation 22 (7)(b), 

Pensions Regulations 

 

Whether to allow an active member with concurrent 

employments, who ceases an employment with an 

entitlement to a deferred pension, more than 12 months 

to elect not to have their deferred pension aggregated 

with their active member’s pension account.   

 

The council will only extend the 

deadline in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

 

12 

 

Aggregation of 

Benefits: Deferred 

Member becoming 

Active Member 

 

 

Regulation 22 (8)(b), 

Pensions Regulations 

 

 

 

Whether to allow a deferred member who becomes an 

active member longer than 12 months in which to elect 

not to have their deferred benefits aggregated with the 

benefits in their active member’s pension account.   

The council will only extend the 

deadline in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

 

 

13 

 

Aggregation of 

Benefits: Deferred 

Member becoming 

Active Member 

(pre-2014 

membership) 

 

 

Regulation 10(6)(b) 

Transitional Regulations 

 

Whether to allow a deferred member who becomes an 

active member longer than 12 months in which to elect 

for their pre-2014 deferred benefits to be aggregated 

with their active member’s pension account (but, 

technically, they would lose the final salary link if they 

have not made an election under 5(5) Transitional 

Regulations within twelve months of becoming an active 

member of 2013 scheme). 

The council will only extend the 

deadline in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

14  

Whether to 

recover any 

monetary 

obligation 

 

A 74(2) 

 

Whether to recover from Fund any monetary obligation 

or, if less, the value of the member’s benefits (other than 

transferred in pension rights or AVCs/SCAVCs) where 

the obligation was incurred because of a criminal, 

negligent or fraudulent act or omission in connection 

with the employment and as a result of which the person 

has left employment 

The council may recover any 

monetary obligation and each case 

will be assessed on its merits. 

 

P
age 35



  14  

 

15 

 

Inward Transfer of 

Pension Rights 

 

Regulation 100, 

Pensions Regulations 

 

Whether to allow an employee who has been an active 

member in their current employment for more than 12 

months to ask for the transfer of certain accrued pension 

rights to be considered. 

 

Note: 

Regulation 100(6) of the Pensions Regulations requires 

that a request must be made within 12 months beginning 

with the date on which the member first became an 

active member in an employment or such longer period 

as the employer and the Administering Authority may 

allow. The discretion is, therefore, only exercisable if 

both the Employing Authority and the Administering 

Authority agree. 

 

 

The council will only extend the 

deadline in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

 

16 

 

Spouse’s CAY 

pensions 

 

21(7) The Local 

Government (Early 

Termination of 

Employment) 

(Discretionary 

Compensation) (England 

and Wales) Regulations 

2000 (as amended) 

 

 

Whether to cancel the suspension rule where the spouse 

of a person who ceased employment before 1 April 1998 

remarries, enters a new civil partnership or cohabits 

after 1 April 1998.  

 

The council will not suspend a 

spouse’s CAY pension during 

remarriage or periods of 

cohabitation. 

 

 

17 

 

Compensatory 

added years (CAY) 

 

Regulation 19 The Local 

Government (Early 

Termination of 

Employment) 

(Discretionary 

Compensation) (England 

and Wales) Regulations 

2000 (as amended) 

 

The process to reduce a pensioner’s annual 

compensatory added years’ pension and lump sum if, 

following the cessation of a period of re-employment in 

local government, they can count more membership 

than they could have accrued had they worked to 65.  

 

The council may reduce CAY 

pensions proportionately if a re-

employed pensioner can count more 

membership than they could have 

accrued had they worked to 65. Any 

reduction would be based on the 

excess membership multiplied by 

the lesser of pay in the original job 

P
age 36



  15  

 and pay in the latest job wound back 

using PI tables. The reduced CAY 

pension would be suspended until 

the overpaid CAY lump sum had 

been recovered. 

 

 

18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Redundancy 

Payments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation 5, 

Compensation 

Regulations 2006 

 

Whether to base redundancy pay on actual pay if it 

exceeds the statutory maximum under the Employment 

Rights Act 1996 (£700 per week from 6th April 2024). 

 

 

 

 

 

The council’s Managing Change 

policy is to exercise its discretion to 

use actual average weekly pay.   

 

The council may pay statutory 

improved redundancy payments and 

each case will be considered on its 

merits. 

 

 

 

19 

 

 

Compensation for 

loss of 

Employment 

 

 

Regulation 6, 

Compensation 

Regulations 2006 

 

Whether to pay compensation to a person whose 

employment ceases  

 by reason of redundancy; 

 in the interests of the efficient exercise of 
the employing authority’s functions; or 

in the case of a joint appointment, because the other 

holder of the appointment leaves 

 

Note: 

Compensation may not be paid under this Regulation if: 

 

 a person has been awarded additional 
pension by the employer under Regulation 
31 of the Pension Regulations (by virtue of 
the Interpretation Act 1978) 

 

The council may pay statutory 

improved redundancy payments and 

each case will be considered on its 

merits. 

 

P
age 37



  16  

 a person’s period of membership of the 
Pension Scheme has been increased under 
Regulation 12 of the Benefits Regulations 
2007; or 

 a person has been awarded an additional 
pension under Regulation 13 of the Benefits 
Regulations 2007. 

 The amount of compensation paid under 
this Regulation may not exceed 104 weeks’ 
pay less any redundancy payment payable. 

 In all cases the decision to pay 
compensation under this Regulation must 
be made no later than 6 months after the 
date the person’s employment terminates. 

 

 

20 
 
Injury 
Allowances 

 

14(1) of the 

Compensation 

Regulations 2011 

 
Scheme employers (LGPS employers), apart from 
admission bodies, must formulate, publish and 
keep under review a policy on:  
 
1. whether to make an injury award to those who 

sustain an injury or contract a disease because 
of anything they were required to do in 
performing the duties of their job and in 
consequence of which they:  

 

 suffer a reduction in remuneration, or  

 cease to be employed because of an 
incapacity which is likely to be permanent 
and which was caused by the injury or 
disease, or 

 

 

The council will only award injury 

allowances in exceptional 

circumstances. 

 

P
age 38



  17  

 

 

 
 

 die leaving a surviving spouse, civil partner 
or dependant, and                   

 
if the Scheme employer has a policy to make such 

payments, how it will determine the amount of injury 

allowance to be paid and whether and when to terminate 

it. 

 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Council Tax Base 2025
	8 Employer Pension Discretions Policy
	Appendix 1 - Employer Pension Discretion Policy


